RECEIVED

Apr 03 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001385
Berkeley County Case No. 2017-CP-08-02238

Matthew Zetz,

Appellant,

v.

Daniel Island Company, Inc.,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

POULIN | WILLEY | ANASTOPOULO,
LLC

Angeline M. Larrivee

S.C. Bar No. 105466

Angeline.larrivee@akimlawfirm.com

Lane Jefferies

S.C. Bar No. 101764

Lane@akimlawfirm.com

Roy T. Willey, IV

S.C. Bar No. 101010

Roy@akimlawfirm.com

Eric Poulin

S.C. Bar No. 100209

Eric@akimlawfirm.com

32 Ann Street

Charleston, SC 29403

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR DEVELOPER, WHERE THERE WAS MORE THAN A SCINTILLA OF EVIDENCE THAT DEVELOPER’S CONTROL OF ASSOCIATION WAS SUFFICIENT TO RENDER DEVELOPER LIABLE IN THIS PREMISES-LIABILITY ACTION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 2, 2017, Matthew Zetz brought a premises-liability negligence action against the Daniel Island Community Foundation. S&C p. 1 (R. p. 14). In Zetz’s first amended complaint, filed November 8, 2019, he added several defendants, including Daniel Island Company, Inc. (“Developer”), the Respondent on appeal. 1st Amend. S&C p. 1 (R. p. 20). On April 29, 2020, Zetz filed his second amended complaint. 2d Amend. Compl. p. 1 (R. p. 30).

A few months later, on September 14, Developer filed a motion for summary judgment, arguing that Zetz’s “claims against [Developer] were filed well beyond the applicable statute of repose and that [Developer] owed [Zetz] no legal duty at the time of the incident.” MSJ p. 1 (R. p. 47). However, the trial court stayed the motion on October 22, 2020, holding that because discovery was incomplete, the motion was not yet ripe. Oct. 22 Order pp. 2–3 (R. pp. 4-5).

On August 16, 2022, Developer filed a second memorandum in support of its motion, Aug. 16 Memo in Support p. 1 (R. p. 353), and on August 24, 2022, the trial court heard the motion, Transcript p. 1 (R. p. 1229). In an order filed September 9, 2022, the court granted summary judgment for Developer, holding that although Developer controlled the entity which owned the

premises, the kind of control that Developer had was insufficient to render Developer liable in a premises-liability action. Sept. 9 Order pp. 4–6 (R. pp. 10-12).¹

On October 4, 2022, Zetz timely filed and served his notice of appeal of the September 9, 2022 order, bringing the appeal properly before this Court. NOA p. 1 (R. p. 1072).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court “reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56, SCRPC.” *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Windham*, No. 2020-001693, 2022 WL 16627087, at *1 (S.C. Nov. 2, 2022) (quoting *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 379, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000)). It recognizes that “because summary judgment is a drastic remedy, it should be cautiously invoked to ensure a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.” *Lord v. D & J Enterprises, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 544, 553, 757 S.E.2d 695, 699 (2014) (citing *Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Ctr., Inc.*, 371 S.C. 123, 134, 638 S.E.2d 650, 655 (2006)).

Therefore, “[i]n determining whether any triable issues of fact exist,” this Court views “the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn therefrom . . . in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Ray v. City of Rock Hill*, 434 S.C. 39, 44–45, 862 S.E.2d 259, 262 (2021) (quoting *Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of S.C., Inc.*, 349 S.C. 356, 361–62, 563 S.E.2d 331, 333 (2002)). In a negligence action, this Court must deny summary judgment where the non-moving party presents “a mere scintilla of evidence” showing a dispute as to either a material fact or “the conclusions to be drawn from” undisputed facts. *Nelson v. Charleston Cnty.*

¹ The trial court (believing that during the hearing, Zetz “argued that he had asserted claims for corporate amalgamation and veil piercing”) held that Developer was “not liable . . . based on a single enterprise or corporate amalgamation theory.” Sep. 9 Order pp. 5–6 (R. pp. 11-12). However, during the August 24, 2022 hearing, Zetz’s counsel clarified that he was not arguing either amalgamation or veil-piercing. Transcript pp. 10, 17 (R. pp. 1238, 1245).

Parks & Recreation Comm'n, 362 S.C. 1, 5, 605 S.E.2d 744, 746 (Ct. App. 2004); *Easterling v. Burger King Corp.*, 416 S.C. 437, 445, 786 S.E.2d 443, 447 (Ct. App. 2016) (quoting *Bass v. Gopal, Inc.*, 395 S.C. 129, 134, 716 S.E.2d 910, 912 (2011)).

FACTS

I. A Walk in the Park

This case arose from an accident that occurred in the Daniel Island Children's Park ("the Premises") on or about November 11, 2016. 2d Amend. Compl. pp. 2, 7 (R. pp. 31, 36). The Premises featured an innovative element designed to captivate child and adult alike: a three-dimensional map of the Charleston area, including a water feature with "shallow concrete trenches" which depicted local waterways. Aug. 16 Memo in Support p. 2 (R. p. 354). Unfortunately, whoever controlled the park failed to ensure that the concrete trenches were adequately lighted or marked. 2d Amend. Compl. p. 1 (R. p. 30).

Zetz paid the price when he "fell into an unlighted and unmarked . . . trench." 2d Amend. Compl. p. 1 (R. p. 30). The fall caused serious injuries which required partial amputation of his leg. 2d Amend. Compl. p. 1 (R. p. 30).

II. In Control

When Zetz tried to obtain some recompense for his disabling injuries, he discovered that the Premises belonged to Daniel Island Town Association ("Association"), 2d Amend. Compl. p. 3, Answer to 2d Amend. Compl. p. 2 (R. pp. 32, 42), and that Association's Field-Operations Manager was supposed to ensure that the lighting contractor performed appropriate work on the Premises, *see* Hamil Depo pp. 13:10–15, 18:16–23, 23:15–24:1 (R. p. 1076, lines 10-15, p. 1077, lines 16-23, p. 1078, line 15-p. 1079, line 1).

Zetz also discovered that—according to Association’s founding documents and the testimony of Association’s officers and employees—Developer ultimately controlled Association and Association’s properties.

The March 1999 Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for Daniel Island Town Center Zone² states that for a certain “Control Period,” the Developer “is entitled to appoint all of the members of the Board of Directors.” By-laws & Decl. p. 29 (R. p. 87); *see id.* at 30, 36 (R. pp. 88, 94) (Developer is sole Class “B” Member).

The Association’s March 1999 by-laws³ clarify that during the control period, the developer-appointed Board has “all the powers and duties necessary for the administration of the Association’s affairs,” By-laws & Decl. p. 9 (R. p. 67), including the duty to “provid[e] for the operation, care, upkeep, and maintenance of the Area of Common Responsibility,” By-laws & Decl. p. 9 (R. p. 67). Specifically, according to the Declaration, the Association has a duty to “manage and control the Common Area and all improvements thereon (including, without limitation, landscaping . . .),” and to “keep it in attractive condition and good repair.” By-laws & Decl. p. 37 (R. p. 95).

In fact, even after the control period, Developer’s power over Association is substantial. Up to two years after the control period ends, *see* By-laws & Decl. p. 36 (R. p. 94) (length of Class “B” membership), Developer can “disapprove any action, policy or program of the Association, the Board and any committee which,” in Developer’s “sole judgment,” “would tend to impair” Developer’s rights. By-laws & Decl. p. 10 (R. p. 68). Furthermore, as long as Developer owns

² In 2004, the Board changed Daniel Island Town Center Zone’s name to Daniel Island Town Association, Inc. (Association’s current name). Sept. 10, 2004 Art. of Amend. p. 1 (R. p. 332).

³ Date taken from file name. By-laws & Decl. p. 1 (R. p. 59).

certain property “or has the right to annex” some of that same property, “and for a period of twenty (20) years thereafter,” Developer can amend the declaration and bylaws “without vote or consent of the Owners for any . . . purpose.” By-laws & Decl. pp. 15–16 (R. pp. 73-74); By-laws & Decl. pp. 47, 69–70 (R. pp. 105, 127-28).

Developer’s and Association’s officers also testified to the extent of Developer’s control. Matthew Sloan, president of both entities in 2016, Sloan Depo p. 35:15–17 (R. p. 1175, lines 15-17), Assoc.’s Answer to Interrogatories p. 11 (R. p. 323), admitted point-blank that Developer controlled Association at the time of the accident, Sloan Depo p. 50:4–7 (R. p. 1190, lines 4-7). So did Frank Brumley, who at the time of the accident was Association’s vice president and Developer’s CEO and chairman. Assoc.’s Answer to Interrogatories p. 11 (R. p. 323); Developer’s Answer to Interrogatories pp. 13–14 (R. pp. 309-10). Brumley not only agreed that Association was “developer controlled” in 2016; he also stated that “*the developer absolutely maintain[ed] control*” during the control period. Brumley Depo pp. 20:23–21:16 (R. p. 1150, line 23-p. 1151, line 16) (emphasis added).

Other high-level employees confirmed Sloan’s and Brumley’s testimony. In a 2019 email addressed to Matt (presumably Matt Sloan) and Jane (presumably Jane Baker, Association’s manager in 2016, Sloan Depo p. 17:17–20 (R. p. 1165, lines 17-20)), Amy Moyer, who had been with Developer since 1999 in the roles of Director of Finance, Vice President of Finance, and Chief Financial Officer, Moyer Affidavit p. 1 (R. p. 1248), stated, “I have already explained to the insurance carrier that [Developer] controls the [Association] board,” Moyer Email p. 1 (R. p. 296). Additionally, finance manager Kay Fabrizio⁴ and community-services manager Barbara

⁴ Finance manager for the Daniel Island Property Owners Association since February 2016. Fabrizio Depo p. 8:8–22 (R. p. 1090, lines 8-22). Daniel Island Property Owners’ Association

McLaughlin⁵ agreed that at the time of the accident, Developer controlled the Association Board (the “Board”). Fabrizio Depo pp. 11:23–13:1 (R. p. 1091, line 23-p. 1093, line 1); McLaughlin Depo p. 131:2–11 (R. p. 1138, lines 2-11). Mary Stuart Sutton⁶ “underst[ood]” that Developer controlled the Board in 2016. Sutton Depo p. 20:1–13 (R. p. 1124, lines 1-13). Finally, G. Chris Hamil, Association’s Field-Operations Manager, Hamil Depo p. 8:24–9:7 (R. p. 1074, line 24-p. 1075, line 7), also believed that Developer controlled the Board in 2016, Hamil Depo pp. 39:23–40:2, 42:12–16, 45:8–13 (R. p. 1081, line 23-p. 1082, line 2, p. 1084, lines 12-16, p. 1086, lines 8-13).

This control was more than nominal. When Sloan (again, the president of both entities in 2016) described developer control, he explained that developers “always control[] up to a certain point,” and that because a developer puts so many assets and so much energy “into building a community,” it “*want[s] to be able to control what is built and how it is managed.*” Sloan Depo p. 19:9–19 (R. p. 1167, lines 9-19) (emphasis added).

Sloan agreed that a developer controls both building and managing a community “by putting its own people on the board.” Sloan Depo p. 68: 13–23 (R. p. 1204, lines 13-23). Because Sloan and Brumley (again, a senior officer of both entities in 2016) were two of the Board’s three members, *see, e.g.*, Sloan Depo pp 37:25–38:1 (R. p. 1177, line 25-p. 1178, line 1); Brumley Depo

(“POA”) is a collective name for entities including Association, the Daniel Island Community Association, and the Daniel Island Community Foundation. *See* Fabrizio Depo p. 11:6–11 (R. p. 1091, lines 6-11); Cuthbert Depo p. 14:1–14 (R. p. 1133, lines 1-14); Hamil Depo pp. 35:17–25, 51:2–18 (R. p. 1080, lines 17-25, p. 1089, lines 2-18); Sutton Depo pp. 22:23–23:11 (R. p. 1125, line 23-p. 1126, line 11); and McLaughlin Depo p. 10:5–13 (R. p. 1134, lines 5-13).

⁵ The POA’s Manager of Community Services. McLaughlin Depo p. 119:15–19 (R. p. 1135, lines 15-19).

⁶ The POA’s Architectural Review Board Administrator. Sutton Depo pp. 8:18–10:6 (R. p. 1112, line 18-p. 1114, line 6).

pp. 26:21–27:6 (R. p. 1156, line 21-p. 1157, line 6); Fabrizio Depo p. 13:6–24 (R. p. 1093, lines 6-24), “[t]he votes at the [Association] were,” as Sloan himself admitted, “controlled by [Developer’s] officers.” Sloan Depo p. 50:9–11 (R. p. 1190, lines 9-11).

According to Sloan, a developer’s control includes ensuring that problems are addressed—even against the wishes of the rest of the Association, if need be. Sloan Depo p. 56:7–23 (R. p. 1196, lines 7-23). Thus, although Developer allowed a manager to run Association, Sloan Depo p. 65:9–11 (R. p. 1203, lines 9-11), Developer’s officers “could have given . . . command[s]” through the Board if they saw “a need that [they] felt strongly enough about,” Sloan Depo p. 51:2–5 (R. p. 1191, lines 2-5). Brumley concurred with Sloan’s view, admitting that if Developer had wanted to “just ram [a proposition] through,” it could have. Brumley Depo pp. 21:17–22:9 (R. p. 1151, line 17-p. 1152, line 9). For example, Brumley agreed that if Developer wanted to hand out free lifejackets for safety reasons, it could have decided to do so, even against the homeowners’ wishes. Brumley Depo pp. 22:20–23:14 (R. p. 1152, line 20-p. 1153, line 14).

III. The Trial Court’s Ruling

Eventually, Developer sought summary judgment against Zetz, alleging that it “owed no legal duties to [Zetz] at the time he was injured.” Oct. 12 Memo in Support p. 1 (R. p. 336).

Despite the evidence of extensive Developer control, the trial court agreed with Developer. It held that Developer did not control Association—at least, not in the sense that “control” is used in premises-liability cases. In essence, the court concluded that the word “control,” as used in “horizontal property regimes,” is a term of art which does not denote a real relationship of control.

According to the court, “[i]n the context of horizontal property regimes” (a type of “common-interest community” or “CIC,” an umbrella term which includes condominiums, co-

ops, time shares, and the like),⁷ the phrase “declarant control period” “is simply common parlance for the time during which the original developer of a community may appoint the board members of a property owners association it has formed.” Sept. 9 Order p. 4 (R. p. 10). The court explained that in a CIC, “if proper corporate formalities are observed, the declarant does not actually exercise direct operational control over the POA, much less the common elements . . . owned by its members.” Sept. 9 Order p. 4 (R. p. 10). In other words, during a declarant control period, the developer’s control is merely nominal—even when the developer can appoint all the association’s board members.

In contrast, the court concluded that in the premises-liability context, control denotes “the circumstances under which a legal duty arises to protect occupants and visitors to a property.” Sept. 9 Order p. 4 (R. p. 10). Therefore, it continued, the analysis of “control” in a premises-liability context is very different from the analysis “appropriate to examine the relationships between separate corporate entities” involved in a CIC. Sept. 9 Order p. 4 (R. p. 10).

The court neither cited authority for this distinction nor clarified the differences between the analyses; rather, it simply described the “chain” of relationships linking Developer to the Premises. Sept. 9 Order pp. 4–5 (R. pp. 10-11). Developer selects the Board, which makes upper-level decisions for Association; Association’s “employees and vendors carry out those decisions”; the Premises “is one of the common elements owned by the many property owners that actually

⁷ South Carolina’s Horizontal Property Act does not define “horizontal property,” but rather refers to “apartments.” S.C. Code Ann. § 27-31-20(a). It defines an “[a]partment” as “a part of the property intended for . . . independent use,” “including one or more rooms . . . located on one or more floors (or parts thereof) in a building or if not in a building in a separately delineated place whether open or enclosed and whether for the storage of an automobile, moorage of a boat, or other lawful use, and with a direct exit to a public street or highway.” *Ibid.* Because this definition seems inapplicable to the development at issue, the court was likely using the term to refer to common-interest communities.

own all of the property that comprises” Association; and “[a]n injury occurred” on the Premises, “allegedly because of inadequate lighting.” Sept. 9 Order pp. 4–5 (R. pp. 10-11). Then, without explaining how the existence of a “chain” of relationships proved Developer’s lack of control, the court concluded that Zetz “failed to provide any support for the notion that [Developer] has sufficient control over the [Premises] to create a legal duty in that entity,” and it granted summary judgment for Developer. Sept. 9 Order p. 5 (R. p. 11).

ARGUMENT

Because Developer had substantial control over Association, this Court must reverse the trial court’s decision to grant summary judgment for Developer.

As our courts have emphasized, control, not mere ownership, is the basis for premises liability. And CIC developers (as our courts, out-of-state-legislatures, and persuasive secondary sources have recognized) heavily control the associations they create. There is indeed a chain which extends from developers to associations to association property—but it is a chain of control, not merely a chain of technical corporate relationships.

Here, in order to survive summary judgment, Zetz only needed to present a scintilla of evidence showing a dispute as to either a material fact (whether the evidence demonstrated that Developer controlled Association) or as to the conclusions to be drawn from the undisputed facts (whether, based on the evidence of Developer’s control, it is fair to hold Developer accountable for Association’s negligence in a premises-liability action). Here, Zetz presented more than a scintilla of evidence not only that Developer controlled Association, but also that Developer controlled Association enough to be held liable for Association’s poorly maintained grounds. Based on this evidence, the trial court—which was obliged to view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to Zetz—should have allowed the matter to reach the jury.

But it did not. Rather, it decided to invoke the drastic remedy of summary judgment, a decision that this Court must reverse.

I. Considering the evidence and all reasonable inferences in Zetz’s favor, there is more than a scintilla of evidence that Developer controlled Association enough to be liable for Association’s negligent groundskeeping.

a. Control is the basis of premises liability.

Premises liability “depends on control, rather than ownership, of the premises.” *Dunbar v. Charleston & W. C. Ry. Co.*, 211 S.C. 209, 216, 44 S.E.2d 314, 317 (1947) (quoting 38 American Jurisprudence *Negligence* § 94). “One who controls the use of property has a duty of care not to harm others by its use,” while “one who has no control owes no duty.” *Miller v. City of Camden*, 329 S.C. 310, 314, 494 S.E.2d 813, 815 (1997) (citing *Dunbar*, 211 S.C. at 214–16, 44 S.E.2d at 316–17; *Peden v. Furman University*, 155 S.C. 1, 151 S.E. 907, 913–14 (1930); and *Clark v. Greenville Cnty.*, 313 S.C. 205, 210, 437 S.E.2d 117, 119 (1993)).

Thus, our Supreme Court has held that a landowner is generally not liable for injury caused by conditions on leased property, because the leaseholder, not the landowner, “control[s]” the property. *Byerly v. Connor*, 307 S.C. 441, 443, 415 S.E.2d 796, 798 (1992). This is as true in commercial contexts as in personal ones. See *Jackson v. Swordfish Invs., L.L.C.*, 365 S.C. 608, 610–12, 620 S.E.2d 54, 55–56 (2005) (holding that even though appellant was corporate sub-lessee’s invitee, commercial landlord had no duty “to protect [appellant] from the criminal acts of third parties inside the leased premises, an area which [the landlord] did not control or possess.”).

Clearly, then, a party can be responsible in a premises-liability action even without owning the premises. Furthermore, two or more parties can simultaneously “control” premises. In *Richards v. Great Atl. & Pac. Tea Co.*, the plaintiff sued not only the store’s owner, but also its manager (evidently because of the manager’s control over the store). 226 S.C. 119, 121, 125, 83 S.E.2d 917,

918, 920 (1954). The Supreme Court approved, stating that “the evidence made issues of negligence for the jury upon which they might have found a verdict against any one or more or all of the defendants.” *Id.* at 125, 83 S.E.2d at 920.⁸

b. During the “control period,” Developer substantially controlled Association.

As the trial court admits, Association controlled the common areas, including the Premises, and the Board controlled Association. Therefore, Developer controlled the Premises if Developer controlled the Board.

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