RECEIVED

Apr 12 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Judicial Circuit

The Honorable Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001385
Berkeley County Case No. 2017-CP-08-02238

Matthew ZetzAppellant,

v.

Daniel Island Company, Inc.,
Daniel Island Community Foundation, Inc.,
Daniel Island Town Association, Inc., and
MGR Resources, Inc. d/b/a Moonlighting
Landscape Lighting Systems Defendants

Of which Daniel Island Company, Inc. is theRespondent

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT DANIEL ISLAND COMPANY, INC.

K. Michael Barfield (S.C. Bar No. 69400)

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

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Summary judgment is appropriate "if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(a), SCRPC. Summary judgment must be granted "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRPC.

"Summary judgment should be granted when plain, palpable, and undisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ." *NationsBank v. Scott Farm*, 320 S.C. 299, 303, 465 S.E.2d 98, 100 (Ct. App. 1995); accord *Moore v. Barony House Restaurant, LLC*, 382 S.C. 35, 40, 674 S.E.2d 500, 503 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting *Rife v. Hitachi Constr. Mach. Ltd.*, 363 S.C. 209, 214, 609 S.E.2d 565, 568 (Ct. App. 2005)). "In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc.*, 365 S.C. 204, 219, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct. App. 2005). Similarly, "[o]n appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below." *Id.*

"On summary judgment, the court's task is not to try issues of fact but to determine if genuine issues of material fact exist." *Murphy v. Tyndall*, 384 S.C. 50, 53, 681 S.E.2d 28, 30 (Ct. App. 2009). "The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite disposition of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder." *Blumenthal Mills*, 365 S.C. at 220, 616 S.E.2d at 730. "Summary judgment is completely appropriate when a properly supported motion sets forth facts that remain undisputed or are contested in a deficient manner." *Guinan v. Tenet Healthsystems of Hilton Head*, 383 S.C. 48, 53, 677 S.E.2d 32, 35 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting *Davis v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Center*, 367 S.C. 242, 250, 626 S.E.2d 1, 5) (2006)).

For the reasons that follow, this Court should affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment to DIC.

B. The Trial Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment to DIC on Appellant's Negligent Design/Construction Claim.

In its Order, the trial court granted summary judgment to DIC on Appellant's negligent design/construction claim. (*See R. p. 10*). Importantly, because Appellant did not appeal that portion of the Order, that decision is not before this Court.

Nevertheless, even if the Court finds that Appellant properly preserved the issue for appeal, it is clear that the trial court properly granted summary judgment on that claim. Our courts have never held that a prior owner/developer of real estate can be held liable for bodily injuries to an invitee of a subsequent owner for design or construction defects. At the time of Appellant's fall, DIC had not owned the Children's Park for 17 years. As such, the law of construction defects is inapplicable to this case.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that a cause of action may lie against a distant former owner of real property for design and construction defects, the statute of repose barred Appellant from any recovery under construction law principles. The Children's Park was completed in 2002. Appellant's injuries were sustained in 2016. This action was filed in 2017. Given that the project was completed prior to 2005, the old thirteen-year statute of repose applies. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-640 (2005). Thus, the statute of repose expired roughly two years before this action was commenced. For that reason, the trial court properly awarded summary judgment to DIC on Appellant's negligent design/construction claim.

C. The Trial Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment to DIC on Appellant's Claims Based on "Control."

The remainder of Appellant's claims, which are the focus of his appeal against DIC all hinge on a single word: "control." However, Appellant's definition of "control" has been a moving target throughout the litigation. On the one hand, Appellant claims that DIC is liable because DIC had direct control over the Children's Park. On the other hand, Appellant claims that DIC is liable because DIC has control over DITA, a separate corporate entity that owns the Children's Park. In making these arguments, Appellant has conflated entirely separate areas of law. In its Order, the trial court distinguished between the different concepts of control that Appellant purports to use in asserting his claims against DIC, stating:

‘Control’ is not a word with a single legal definition. In the context of horizontal property regimes, master deeds frequently refer to a “declarant control period.” That is simply common parlance for the time during which the original developer of a community may appoint the board members of a property owners association it has formed. That said, if proper corporate formalities are observed, the declarant does not actually exercise direct operational control over the POA, much less the common elements that are owned by its members. In the context of the kinds of premises liability cases upon which the Plaintiff relies, “control” is used as a way to describe the circumstances under which a legal duty arises to protect occupants and visitors to a property. That is a very different analysis than what is appropriate to examine the relationships between separate corporate entities.

(See R. p. 10). Importantly, while Appellant has, at various times, attempted to rely upon several different bodies of law to support his claims against DIC, it has become abundantly clear that each of Appellant’s arguments is focused on “control” as it relates to the relationship between two separate corporate entities, DIC and DITA. That relationship, as well as DIC’s connection to the Children’s Park, was properly summarized in the trial court’s Order:

DIC is a for profit corporation. It was the original developer entity for the entirety of Daniel Island. As part of the master plan to develop the island, the City of Charleston mandated a number of parks and greenspaces be built and be open to the public. The City also mandated that all such parks must be conveyed to one of the nonprofit property owners’ association on the island or to the City itself. The Children’s Park where the [Appellant] was injured was constructed by DIC in 1999 and conveyed to the Daniel Island Town Association (“DITA”) immediately upon its completion, per the City’s requirements. DITA has been the sole owner of the Children’s Park since that conveyance. DITA, a South Carolina non-profit corporation, is managed by a board of directors and operated in accordance with a Master Deed, DIC, as the declarant entity listed in the DITA Master Deed, has the right to appoint DITA’s directors until a given number of properties with that association have been sold to third party owners, at which time its board members will be elected from the association’s members.

(See R. pp. 8-9). As the discovery phase of the litigation progressed, Appellant realized the facts could not sufficiently support a basic premises liability theory against DIC. Appellant then set out to establish DIC’s liability under a corporate amalgamation or corporate veil piercing theory, as is required under the law of corporations. Then, when the evidence did not support either of those theories, Appellant again shifted gears and began to develop a *respondeat superior* or vicarious

liability theory. This new theory was discussed at length during the second hearing on DIC's Motion for Summary Judgment, at which time Appellant's counsel compared the relationship between DIC and DITA to a typical master-servant relationship:

MR. JEFFERIES: . . . I mean, it's like, for instance, my boss controls me and I control my paralegal. There's nothing wrong with that. That's a typical structure. But it also means that my boss has control over my paralegal. That if my paralegal commits some sort of tort, not only am I potentially on the hook because I had control, but my boss could be, too, because he had control. The same way the superintendent of the school controls the principal and the principal controls the teacher. So the superintendent has control over the teacher. The fact that's there [sic] an intermediary in that chain of control doesn't wipe it out.

(See R. p. 1242, lines 14-25). In making his vicarious liability argument, Appellant applies common law master-servant concepts to the relationship between two entirely separate corporate entities. He effectively claims that it is entirely irrelevant that both DIC and DITA are corporate entities that are afforded certain protections under South Carolina law.

It is axiomatic that corporations exist for one basic purpose: to shield their officers, directors, and shareholders from individual liability. See *Pertuis v. Front Roe Rests., Inc.*, 423 S.C. 640, 655, 817 S.E.2d 273, 280 (2018) (“[C]orporations are often formed for the purpose of shielding shareholders from individual liability; there is nothing remotely nefarious in doing that.”); *Hunt v. Rabon*, 275 S.C. 475, 272 S.E.2d 643 (1980) (“Generally the reason for the creation of a corporation is to limit liability. While there are instances in which directors and/or trustees and officers may be personally liable, an officer or a director of a corporation is not, merely as a result of his standing as such, personally liable for torts of corporate employees.”).

Under South Carolina law, the only way to legally nullify a corporation's legal protection is to pierce the corporate veil on the vertical axis or seek to have entities amalgamated on the

horizontal axis. *See Drury Dev. Corp. v. Found. Ins. Co.*, 380 S.C. 97, 101, 668 S.E.2d 798, 800 (2008) ("If any general rule can be laid down, it is that a corporation will be looked upon as a legal entity until sufficient reason to the contrary appears; but when the notion of legal entity is used to protect fraud, justify wrong, or defeat public policy, the law will regard the corporation as an association of persons. The party seeking to pierce the corporate veil has the burden of proving that the doctrine should be applied."); *Walbeck v. I'On Co., LLC*, 426 S.C. 494, 528, 827 S.E.2d 348, 366 (Ct. App. 2018) ("the requirements for the single business enterprise theory as adopted by our supreme court overlap with the *Sturkie* requirements for piercing the corporate veil. The single business enterprise theory does not require a showing of the corporate defendants' failure to observe corporate formalities. However, the theory dovetails with the second prong of the *Sturkie* test, i.e., an element of injustice or fundamental unfairness, to place accountability where it belongs.").

1. Appellant cannot prevail against DIC under a premises liability theory.

Appellant originally sought and, to some degree, continues to seek to hold DIC liable by arguing that DIC had direct control over the Children's Park. He contends that DIC had an ongoing duty to maintain the park. However, the trial court properly held that DIC did not owe a legal duty to Appellant under the basic principles of premises liability law. At the time of Appellant's injury, DIC had not owned the subject property for approximately seventeen years. In fact, DIC was not even the most recent prior owner at the time of the incident. DIC passed title to DIBS-SC, which then conveyed the park property to DITA, as mandated by the City of Charleston. The notion that a past owner of real property cannot be held liable for bodily injury to a subsequent owner's licensee or invitee is so fundamental to the principles of premises liability law that no South Carolina case has ever had to articulate it. However, other authorities do so very clearly:

Once the landowner sells the land or leases it to a tenant, his duties to make conditions on the land reasonably safe are limited or nonexistent. The reasons for and effects of the limitation are not like those in landowner cases already covered. In other landowner cases, the question was whether anyone owed a duty of any kind. In cases of vendors and landlords, however, the question is not so much whether a duty is owed but who owes it. It is not the existence of responsibility but the allocation of it. Subject to some qualifications, the traditional common law regarded the transfer of land title as a shift of responsibility for conditions that might cause physical harm to others on the land.

Once the purchaser of land takes title and possession, he becomes responsible for dangers to himself or others on the land; and correspondingly the vendor is freed from responsibility.

DAN B. DOBBS ET AL, THE LAW OF TORTS § 280 (2d ed. 2011); *accord Jackson v. Scheible*, 902 N.E.2d 807 (Ind. 2009) (vendor owes no duty to protect from dangerous condition, because vendor no longer controls condition of property); *Brady v. 5644 Ave. U Assocs., L.P.*, 291 A.D.2d 523, 524, 737 N.Y.S.2d 640, 642 (2002) (“Where an owner of property is no longer in possession and control of the property, and retains no right to re-enter for purposes of inspection and repair, the owner cannot be held liable for defects in the property.”); *Occidental Chemical Corporation v. Jenkins*, 478 S.W.3d 640, 649 (Tex. 2016) (previous owner owes no duty under premises liability law for injuries caused to entrant by dangerous condition on land, even where previous owner had role in creating condition; “liability ends with the property's sale”); *Brenner v. Amerisure Mutual Insurance Company*, 374 Wis.2d 578, 893 N.W.2d 193 (2017) (former property owner owes no duty with respect to hazardous condition on property, even if former owner created condition).

The Restatement has taken a similar approach. It provides that “[e]xcept as stated in [section] 353, a vendor of land is not subject to liability for physical harm caused to his vendee or others while upon the land after the vendee has taken possession by any dangerous condition, whether natural or artificial, which existed at the time that the vendee took possession.” *See* Restatement (Second) of Torts § 352.

Despite these fundamental principles, Appellant nevertheless maintains that DIC is liable for his injuries. In support of his argument, Appellant cites to a myriad of basic premises liability cases that are wholly inapplicable to the facts of this case. The cases upon which Appellant relies analyze the liability of a landowner and a leaseholder when an injury occurs on leased property. (*See* Appellant’s Br., at 10). According to Appellant, these cases prove that “a party can be responsible in a premises-liability action without even owning the premises.” (*See id.*). While that principle may be true in the context of leaseholders, it is entirely irrelevant to this case. Here, unlike a leaseholder who has a direct connection to a property, DIC’s connection to the Children’s Park is extremely attenuated if not entirely nonexistent. In fact, one can see just how removed DIC is from the park and Appellant’s injury simply by going through each link in the chain: DIC selects the board of DITA. DITA’s board makes upper-level decisions for that entity. DITA’s employees and vendors carry out those decisions. The Children’s Park is one of the common elements owned by the many property owners that actually own all of the property that comprises DITA. An injury occurred in that park, allegedly because of inadequate lighting. Appellant now seeks to hold DIC liable for that injury based on DIC’s alleged control over the park. However, the undisputed evidence unequivocally demonstrates that DIC did not own, maintain, control, or even use the park around the time of Appellant’s injury. As the trial court stated in its Order, Appellant has not and, frankly, cannot provide “any support for the notion that DIC has sufficient control over the park to create a legal duty in that entity.” (*See* R. p. 11). Accordingly, Appellant’s attempts to hold DIC liable based on its direct control of the park fail.

2. Appellant cannot prevail against DIC under a corporate amalgamation or corporate veil piercing theory.

Later in the life of the case, Appellant adopted a new approach and sought to impute DITA’s alleged negligence to DIC by claiming that DIC had “control” over DITA, the entity that

actually owns the park. Regardless of the way Appellant uses the term “control,” his argument focuses on the relationship between two corporate entities, thereby implicating the law of corporations.

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